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1. Background
1.1 In April 2015 Dudley Safeguarding Adults Board (Dudley SAB) commissioned two Safeguarding Adults Reviews (SARs) in respect of two people who had died as a result of choking. Although neither person had any contact with each other, and received services from different agencies and specialist services, they both had identified difficulties with swallowing, known as dysphagia.

1.2 Both of these people’s deaths were subject to criminal proceedings and the timetables for the SARs have been dictated by the Courts’ timetables. Proceedings are now concluded in respect of Mr Gary Aston, (henceforth referred to as Mr Aston or Gary) and therefore this SAR can be produced.

1.3 Mr Aston had disabilities arising from Multiple Sclerosis and lived in an apartment where he was a tenant with an extra-care provider. He died in hospital on 29th December 2013, as a result of choking. 
2. Terms of reference
2.1 The full Terms of Reference are attached at Appendix 1. The specifics in the terms of reference were as follows.

“It is essential that the Investigator have expertise relating to the care and support of people living in community settings with dysphagia and learning disability and the content of the Review is likely to include the following: 
Identify whether there are lessons to be learned from the death of the late [PERSON A] and [PERSON B] in which local professionals and agencies work together to safeguard adults at risk.
Identify what those lessons are, how they will be acted upon and what is expected to change as a result within a given timescale; and as a result to improve practice, with a view to promoting the positive practice highlighted amongst other relevant factors.

Inform and improve local inter-agency working including with commissioned services.
Review the effectiveness of procedures (both multi agency and those of individual organisations) of those supporting the late [PERSON A] and [PERSON B] and make recommendations for improvement.
To commission whatever information is required of agencies involved in the care of the late [PERSON A] and [PERSON B]. To prepare an overview report which brings together and analyses the findings of the various reports from agencies in order to identify the learning points and make recommendations for future action.”
3. Process and methodology
3.1 Dudley SAB requested that the approach to the SAR to be informed by the West Midlands Region – Safeguarding Adults Review Framework (agreed December 2013) and learning from the West Midlands Regional Network SAR/SCR Event 2014, in line with the requirements of the Care Act 2014.

3.2 Dudley SAB Sub Group met with the Investigator for an initial meeting to discuss the commissioning of Individual Agency Management reports (IMR). The IMR’s were commissioned and, following their receipt a series of interviews were held with key personnel in agencies and a further examination of some records. The IMR’s provided individual agency findings and recommendations, some of which were put into effect by those agencies immediately. The findings and recommendations from the IMR’s are attached in Appendix 2.

3.3 Families are very important to the SAR process. In this instance Mr Aston’s family were unable to participate in the SAR until after the court proceedings, for reasons unrelated to the court process. 

The investigator produced an interim report for the SAR Sub Group which was discussed in November 2015. The draft report identified areas for exploration arising from key themes identified in the Safeguarding Adults Review and these were discussed by the sub-group. 

3.4 The Court proceedings were dismissed by the Judge in January 2016. The Investigator met with Mr Aston’s family on 17th February 2016 and shared the draft report with them, as well as gaining his family’s views regarding his views, wishes and needs.

3.5 The full SAR learning event was held on 23rd February 2016. This final report arises from these interviews and the learning events and was presented to Dudley SAB on 13th May 2016. The recommendations arise from the analysis, findings and the discussions of learning points covered at meetings and the learning events. All those involved in the SAR have been open and reflective in their approach throughout the process and have contributed to the analysis, findings and recommendations.
4. Summary of Findings
4.1 This Safeguarding Adult Review found that Mr Aston’s death was avoidable, however some inputs that could have prevented his death would have been contrary to his expressed views and wishes. Mr Aston had full mental capacity and therefore his wishes about how he conducted his daily living were paramount.
4.2 However, the process of the review has identified areas of learning where the services and systems could be improved. Findings and recommendations are identified in the body of the report and summarised at the end. These include initiatives that are already in place from individuals and individual agencies, as identified in IMR’s and the learning events and multi-agency activities. 
5. Case Background

Events leading up to Mr Aston’s death- Factual Summary

5.1 Gary was born on 17th November 1966 and died on 29th December 2013 at the age of 47.

5.2 At the age of 35 he was diagnosed with Multiple Sclerosis (MS)

His disease progressed relatively rapidly and resulted in the breakup of his relationship, the loss of his job and eventually independent living.

An important part of his symptomatology was difficulty in swallowing (dysphagia)
 and difficulty in speaking (dysarthria) 

5.3 In November 2012 he was admitted to New Swinford Hall (NSH), a rehabilitation centre, where he remained for five and a half months. In April 2013 he moved to Willowfields, an extra care service. 

5.4  Gary’s final illness resulted from choking on his food, resulting in asphyxia and consequent fatal brain damage.

Cause of death as recorded on death certificate:

1a. Hypoxic brain injury

1b. Respiratory arrest

1c. Food bolus aspiration

2.  Severe multiple Sclerosis

Cause of death as given by the Home Office Pathologist:

1a. Hypoxic/Ischaemic brain injury

1b. cardiac arrest due to choking (with initial resuscitation) in a patient with multiple sclerosis

5.5 Gary lived at Willowfields, an extra care setting, receiving domiciliary care from staff. The service, which is managed by Midland Heart, is described as an extra Care scheme for people aged over 55. He lived in an apartment in a complex of 72 self-contained apartments, with staff support. The staff support services comes under domiciliary care. He moved into this apartment in April 2013 following a period of assessment at a rehabilitation centre. 

5.6 On 27th December 2013 Gary’s choice of lunch, a microwaved burger, was prepared for him by a member of staff.  She cut the burger into four pieces. After undertaking a range of tasks the member of staff left Gary at 13:34. At 13:39 Gary made a call to the staff. The staff member who took this call thought he might need assistance to get to the toilet as she could not understand his speech, but did not attend to him. At approximately 14:20 the member of staff who had originally provided lunchtime support to Gary remembered that she had not emptied his catheter, although she recorded on the OSKA
 note system that she had. A member of staff who was coming on duty said that she would go to him, which she did. She found Gary slumped in his wheelchair, with signs of vomit. She left the room to get help. Staff attended and at 14:28 they called 999. Staff got Gary to the floor and commenced CPR. The paramedics arrived and used suction and forceps to remove un-chewed burger and bun from Gary’s windpipe. At this time he had had a cardiac arrest and was unresponsive. At 15:05, when in the ambulance, he was trying to breathe on his own. There is a query as to whether he had a second medical event in the ambulance and food was found in his windpipe when he was seen in the Emergency Department. He may have aspirated. Gary was admitted on 27th December 2013 to the High Dependency Unit from the Emergency Department. He had a CT scan on 28th December, which showed that he had hypoxic brain injury. Following discussions with his family it was agreed to stop treating Gary. Life support was removed in the early hours of 29th December 2013 and he died a few hours later.

6.  Gary’s circumstances and history

6.1 It should be noted that much of this information about Gary was not recorded in the records of those involved in supporting or providing health or social care to him, however it as known to various professionals. As a result it was difficult to get a picture of Gary as a fellow citizen by reading records. 
6.2 Gary was 47 years old when he died. He had lived in the local area all his life. He was diagnosed with Multiple Sclerosis in 2001. At that time he was living with his partner and in full time employment.
6.3 Family background. Gary was the youngest of four children. He had one sister and two older brothers. As a child he lived in the family home with his mother, father and siblings. Gary had identified learning difficulties and attended a school for children with special educational needs for a few years before attending mainstream school. He was described by his family as being very skilled at joinery and making things and he made gates and various other items. He did not have a wide circle of friends. He lived with his girlfriend for a few years but the relationship ended when he was diagnosed with Multiple Sclerosis and he returned to live with his mother in the family home. One of his brothers was also diagnosed with Multiple Sclerosis and it is clear from records that the brothers shared information about resources and support groups. Gary was described as very close to his brother. His brother died suddenly in November 2012. Gary’s sister and brother-in-law said that he was distraught at the funeral and at the loss of his brother. No information regarding the death of Gary’s brother is recorded on his files. Gary’s mother visited him regularly and he would open the door electronically at Willowfields when he saw her to let her in. His sister-in-law bought his food for him and attended his service reviews at Willowfields.
6.4 Gary was described as being fiercely independent. He would crawl around on his hands and knees, wearing the knee of his jeans away. He liked to walk the dogs but fell over frequently. He declined a pendant alarm. His social work assessment records that he was attending the wheelchair centre and being assessed for an electric wheelchair. In 2012 he could still use a motorised scooter but crawled to the garage to get to it.  His social work assessment recorded his view that ‘if he wants to do something, he will find a way’.
6.5 Gary approached Social Care in 2011 when he was struggling to get around safely at home. He and his mother had decided to sell their home and purchase a bungalow, which they did in August 2012.  However, Gary’s health continued to deteriorate quite rapidly and his disability increased as a consequence. He had recurrent falls and increasing difficulty mobilising. 
The bungalow was not wheelchair accessible. His manual dexterity was impaired making some tasks, such as self catheterisation, very difficult. 
He attended to his own personal care, even though this took some time and the property did not have a shower. His driving license was revoked in February 2012. He was supported by a worker from the Independent Living team, a specialist MS case worker and a community occupational therapist (OT). He had a social work assessment in 2012, updated in November 2012. His mother and sister participated in the assessment process. 
Gary’s expressed wish was to pursue independent living with support. 
His biggest concern was the deterioration in his speech and whether people could understand him.
6.6 Gary was admitted to New Swinford Hall (NSH) on 14th November 2012 for 6 weeks for a rehabilitation assessment.  His GP (GP1) was contacted and a request made for medical records. These were provided by the next day. 
He was temporarily registered with a new GP (GP2) on 4th December 2012, classed as in respite care. Gary’s assessment and residence at NSH lasted longer than anticipated as there were limited housing options available to him. In January 2013 he was offered a tenancy at Willowfields, an Extra Care Scheme managed by Midland Heart, which he accepted. His stay at NSH was extended so that he could move directly into Willowfields once the tenancy became available. He was also offered a place at a day centre. On 28th February 2013 he was registered as a temporary patient with the GP practice (GP2). On 10th March 2013 NSH staff wrote to his GP2 to say that Gary would be moving to Willowfields. On 10th March he registered with his new GP(GP3) practice and a new patient’s questionnaire was completed on 5th April. He was attending clinics at the hospital during this time but some letters from the clinics were sent to the previous GP (GP2), causing a delay in service. 
Gary was assessed as requiring 34 hours 45 minutes of care support per week. Care time was ascribed to specific tasks and identified those that required two staff (e.g. support to get to the toilet) and those that required one member of staff (e.g. laundry, drink and food preparation). A two member of staff task may take half an hour in real time but will count as one hour in care time. 

6.7 The discharge letter from NSH to Willowfields does not record any specific instructions. Although general information about Multiple Sclerosis and symptoms were on Gary’s file in NSH, it is not clear if this was passed to Willowfields.

6.8   NSH Staff prepared a transfer of care document for Gary, which was sent to Willowfields but it is not clear when it was received. Gary also had an initial support plan that was completed with his social worker. The plan identifies that “Mr. Aston has an issue with swallowing which is currently being investigated. He requires a soft diet and can cough when he has had a drink” and also “Carers should be aware that he is reluctant to use his buzzer.”
6.9 Dudley Adult Social Care reviewed Gary’s care on 1st May 2013. The review was chaired by his social worker and Gary attended, along with his sister, a member of care staff and a worker from the Disability Support Team. The review noted that he was settling well at Willowfields, he was socialising with other tenants, happy with the care he was receiving and requested that his place at the day centre be cancelled. The review noted that Gary did buzz for assistance to get to the toilet and that there were concerns that he may burn himself when he smoked and different options were explored to make this safer for him and reduce the impact of dropping cigarettes. He continued to have falls but said that these were a result of trying to pick things up rather than transfers. He was referred for a helping hand (aid) to assist him with picking things up. His ILT worker reported that the Community Dietician was visiting him on 15th May 2013 following investigations of his swallow. Gary told the review that it was much improved and that he was not having problems with coughing or swallowing at present. The social worker closed his social work allocation by agreement and he was transferred to a reviewing team.
7.  Health
7.1  Gary was under the Rehabilitation Service and moved from Birmingham Hospital to Russell Hospital Rehab Services.

He was under a number of Consultants: Urology, Neurology and 
Gastro-enterolgy. He was also referred to occupational therapy (OT), community dietician, speech and language therapy (SALT) and the specialist MS nurse service.

7.2 His speech had become very indistinct. Gary had communication support and input from SALT, including speech exercises, word finding exercises and offers of communication aids. He tried the former but eventually withdrew from this service and declined communication aids and IT support.

7.3 Gary had to change GP 3 times in last 2 years as a consequence of moving address. It is evident that he had a positive relationship with his GP (GP1). He would write issues down for his GP to support the development of his treatment plan. He actively sought treatments such as decompression, 
but these had little impact on the development of the MS. However, his fine motor skills became impaired and there is no record of him writing to his medical team or GP in the last few years of his life. He had tried some medications but at the end of his life was only taking Citalopram
 for depression. He was pro-active in seeking treatments, including treatment for depression, but records indicate that he was less interested in therapies, which is not unusual.
8.  Impact of Multiple Sclerosis (MS)
8.1 Gary’s speech was impaired and he was diagnosed with dysarthria. 
This had a severe impact on his ability to communicate his needs in depth and for people meeting him for the first time, or after a period of time, 
to understand his speech. This is particularly relevant when he attended consultations at hospital or was admitted for treatment through the Emergency Department in the hospital. In a self-assessment with the SALT in 2011, prior to embarking on speech exercises and word finding therapy he described his speech as ‘terrible’. He used the same description at the end of the therapy. The dysarthria impacted on his visits to various clinics and professionals, for example when he was visited by the practice-based pharmacist for his medication review in October 2013.
8.2 Gary found eating difficult. It was described as messy and he did not enjoy eating. He had experienced some unpleasant bullying from another person when he used the restaurant at Willowfields and as result did not want to eat in public.  A videofluoroscopy
 in February 2013 found that his swallow was impaired but had adequate function. He was recommended to have a normal diet avoiding high risk foods. He was advised to contact his GP or re-refer to SALT if he choked or aspirated. He was seen by Community Dieticians in May 2013. There were discussions about him having a Percutaneous Endoscopic Gastrostomy (PEG) procedure
 in 2013, from the Gastroenterology Consultant, the Neurologist and the Specialist MS nurse.

8.3 His fine motor skills were impaired and as a result he had to change from a penile catheter to a suprapubic catheter. He had five admissions to hospital via the Emergency Department between 19th August and 13th October 2013 and was treated with antibiotics.

8.4 Gary also had impaired bowel function. He required the assistance of two members of staff to support him to the toilet.

8.5 Gary’s mobility was significantly impaired. He used an electric wheelchair and his GP3 had asked for this to be reviewed, which it was in April 2013, 
as he required more support. He used a standing frame and wore a leg brace.

8.6 Gary had times when he was forgetful. He became increasingly socially isolated with few relationships as his impairments increased. He had contact and support from his family but rarely went out other than for medical appointments or to have a cigarette. He didn’t socialise with other people who lived in the complex. He was described as always being pleasant with staff and enjoying a joke with them.

8.7 He was depressed and had been on antidepressants for some years and had been referred to the Clinical Neuropsychologist in September 2009 as he was suffering from low mood. However, he attended the clinic on the wrong day and declined a re-arranged appointment. He was prescribed Amitriptyline
 for pain and low mood in May 2011. He was prescribed Citalopram in April 2013. He approached his GP3 with continued feelings of depression in August 2013. It does appear that although his depression was being treated by medication, the care staff had not made this connection in reviews. His MS nurse also described him as not having a low mood when she saw him in her clinic.

8.8 Gary was in pain. In October 2013 he visited GP3 complaining of pain in his neck.
9.  Key themes identified in this SAR

9.1 Capacity:
Gary had capacity and was fiercely independent. 

However, he was vulnerable for the following reasons:

· Staff at NSH noted that he was vulnerable as he was unlikely to ask for help

· He was described as always being pleasant

· His speech was significantly impaired and this made it difficult for him to communicate his needs and wishes fully

· He experienced some forgetfulness, a feature of MS

· He also experienced periods of fatigue and this impacted on all aspect of his functioning

· He was suffering from depression

· He had experienced a number of significant losses including relationship, work, freedom of movement, control of bodily functions, ability to express himself easily, social contact, driving license, his own home. 
It is also important to note that although Gary had learning difficulties identified in childhood this is not recorded on any of his files, nor were any needs related to learning difficulties identified or assessed by Adult Services. The term learning difficulties has been used as distinct from learning disability. No further information is available as to the nature of his learning difficulties. 
10.  Dysphagia
10.1 Gary had difficulties in speech and occasional difficulties with his swallow. He was diagnosed with dsyphagia (swallow) and dysarthria. He had been prescribed ‘thick and easy’ for his drinks but he found that it did not help and he later declined it. In 2012 his SALT recorded that Gary reported that he was more likely to cough with thickened drinks.

10.2 He had engaged with speech therapy for vocal exercises and word finding exercises for some time but eventually withdrew from SALT service for therapy. He was discharged from the rehabilitation service SALT on 5th September 2012, with the advice that should his speech or swallow deteriorate he could re-refer via his GP.

10.3 There appears to be some confusion between services over Gary’s eating and drinking guidelines. On 24th December 2012, the community SALT undertook a dysphagia assessment and assessed that the dysphagia was worse on thickened fluids and that he should have normal fluids, a soft mashable diet, supervision, be monitored after meals and that a swallow diary be maintained.  A swallow diary was completed from 31st December until he was discharged to Willowfields. He was seen again by the Community SALT on 15th January 2013 when he requested a normal diet. No coughing had been reported on food, but coughing was reported with fluids. The food diary indicated that Gary was managing a soft diet with no difficulties.

10.4 As a result of concern over his variable swallow difficulties the Community SALT requested via the GP that Gary have a videofluoroscopy. This was conducted on 6th February 2013. Gary was assessed whilst eating high risk foods during the videofluoroscopy assessment in Feb 2013. He was assessed as being more likely to choke or cough when drinking thickened liquids so he drank liquids of their normal consistency e.g. squash.

10.5 Gary was advised that he could eat a normal diet avoiding high risk foods (high risks foods are defined as  those with a stringy fibrous texture, such lettuce, pineapple; mixed consistency foods such as cereals that do not blend with milk, soup with lumps, mince with thin gravy; crumbly/crunchy foods such as crisps, biscuits, flaky pastry; hard chewy foods such as tough meat, boiled sweets; husks and vegetables/fruit skins such as sweetcorn, granary bread, grapes, peas.)  He was given written information about foods to avoid, safe swallowing guidelines, and what to do if he experienced symptoms such as shortness of breath during or after eating, coughing or choking etc.  The guidelines also highlight that the swallow could become worse if the person was sleepy or unwell. 

10.6 There is no evidence that this was shared with Willowfields staff. 
His chose to always have two Weetabix, two pieces of toast and a hot chocolate drink for breakfast. These are not high risk, as long as the toast is not granary.

10.7 The handover of eating and drinking guidance was also unclear. 
Transfer of care document from NSH stated that he was on a soft diet, as per the community SALT guidance of December 2012. They were not updated to with the hospital SALT guidance of Feb 2013.  The front page of transfer of care document says that Gary should be monitored whilst eating but this is not carried over and identified in the care tasks information on the next page covering meals. The community SALT saw Gary at NSH with a senior member of care staff on 2nd April 2013 and recorded that he had the occasional cough but managed well overall and to continue with the recommendations from the videofluoroscopy i.e. normal diet avoiding high risk foods.

10.8 The disability support worker told Gary’s care review on1st May 2013 that the community dietician was visiting him on 15th May following investigations of his swallow. Gary told the review that his swallow was much improved and that he was not having problems with coughing or swallowing at present.
10.9 To summarise: 

· Neither the transfer of care document nor his care assessment for Willowfields identify that he should have someone in the room with him when he was eating and drinking, or eat in public as there may be a risk of choking. Similarly, this was not identified as a need in the SALT assessment from the hospital. However, there was no recorded discussion with the hospital SALT of the difference in the nature and type of care he would be receiving when he moved and the setting.
· At Gary’s final review at NSH as held on 6th February (same day as the videofluoroscopy test), his OT noted that he had deteriorated since admission and that he needed full assistance with eating and drinking.

· The SALT visited Gary at Willowfields but did not communicate any outcome of these meetings to his care provider. Gary did not share information from these meetings with care provider.

· Gary told his review on 1st May 2013 that he was not having problems with his swallow or coughing.

· The impact of fatigue, associated with MS, on his swallow function was not noted and therefore any associated risks were not explored.
10.10 Overall: There is evidence that Gary coughed/choked on drinks but no evidence that he had ever choked on food. There is no previous aspiration recorded. He did not have any reported chest infections during the last year of his life. A review of logged calls made by Gary to care staff at Willowfields over a 6 month period indicated he occasionally pressed his call button for assistance to get to the toilet, but he had not made any calls in relation to difficulties eating and drinking.

11.  PEG Discussions
11.1 However, his clinicians were concerned about the risks of choking and PEG procedure was discussed with him twice in 2013 and was unresolved at the time of his death.

11.2 On 11th March 2013 Gary, accompanied by a carer from NSH, met with the hospital specialist MS nurse.  She spoke to him about having a PEG procedure. It was documented in case notes that he was having frequent choking episodes and that a SALT was involved. It should be noted that the nurse cannot access electronic records.  She wrote to the GP, copy to Gary, regarding a PEG and raising concerns about his swallow.

11.3 Gary’s new GP followed up the referral by referring him to a gastroenterologist on 22nd April 2013. The Gastroenterologist discussed this with the Primary and Secondary Care Nutrition Multi Disciplinary Team (MDT) and Gary was seen by the community dietician. Following assessment and discussions with him, a PEG was not recommended. The results of the SALT advice following the Videofluoroscopy were noted - “to continue on normal fluids and diet of choice, with acknowledgement that his swallow is impaired to a degree but is functional with adequate airway protection.”
11.4 A meeting of the Primary and Secondary Care Nutrition MDT on 
12th June 2013 concluded that a PEG insertion was not appropriate for him. The gastroenterology consultant wrote to Gary’s GP. This letter does not appear to have been communicated to the specialist MS nurse. The SALT service discharged Gary on 13th June. They noted that he had declined further input.
11.5 His rejection of SALT service was specific around not wanting to continue with therapy around his speech, but it is not clear that he had declined input for any issues relating to his sallow and eating and drinking.

11.6 On 26th June 2013 Gary attended an out-patient appointment with his neurologist. The neurologist noted that he had deteriorated over the past 6-9 months and he was unable to mobilise. His speech was more laboured with worsening dysarthria. He referred Gary to the SALT team and MS nurse. The letter was copied to his GP but sent to the previous practice.

11.7  On 11th July the SALT team wrote to the Neurologist and confirmed both the dysarthria and swallowing difficulties, the videofluoroscopy recommendations from February and that Gary had declined SALT input. There is no evidence that the SALT checked back with Gary before replying to the referral.

11.8  On 27th August 2013 the Gastroenterologist wrote to Gary’s GP3 to say that he had failed to keep his outpatient’s appointment to discuss a PEG insertion. The gastroenterologist offered a domiciliary visit if Gary was unable to attend clinic. Unfortunately, this wasn’t followed up by the GP.

11.9  On 5th September Gary saw the specialist MS nurse. He attended alone. The meeting was not successful in that the nurse was unable to understand him because of his dysarthria. However, she documented that he did not recall having received a letter to attend the appointment with the gastroenterologist. The nurse also says that she was not concerned about his mood. The nurse wrote to the GP and neurologist regarding concerns about her difficulty in assessing Gary as he was alone. She referred him to the specialist community nurse for domiciliary visits and asked for another appointment to be made regarding the PEG, and that she would contact the SALT service to find out the outcome of their assessments. She also noted that the suprapubic catheter site was inflamed and recommended antibiotics.

12. Findings 

12.1 The Primary and Secondary Nutrition MDT service is a speedy and effective response to changing needs. The referral made by Gary’s Neurologist in June 2013 could have been a trigger for a wider MDT discussion that involved Gary, his GP and other Specialist involved in his care and treatment. 

12.2 It would be helpful if recording of a patient/person’s wishes were explicit and therefore avoid confusion about what services had been declined/accepted. Some SALT services differentiate clearly between services and assessments around swallowing and services and therapies around speech and communication, which would have been helpful in this case.

12.3 Gary did not have any one professional or care manager coordinating his health and care services. This meant that some things were missed, especially at times where there were gaps in allocating a key professional or changes in key professionals. He was seen by a range of Clinicians, all of whom were concerned about his speech and swallow, as well as the overall progression of his impairments arising from Multiple Sclerosis.

12.4 The MS Nurse is addressing the lack of access to electronic records pragmatically and has changed her clinic days so that she can attend MDT meetings. This should ensure that there is better communication and continuity of care.

13. Services
13.1 Gary had few choices when he was ready to move from NSH. He was unable to live alone/without support. However, he expressed very clearly a wish to live as independently as possible. There is no evidence that he was ever offered or received a Continuing Health Care assessment, nor is there evidence that he was offered direct payments budget. It was the view of those who attended the Learning Event that he would not have qualified for Continuing Health Care.
13.2 The local social care market had little to offer a middle- aged person with a physical disability and a neuro-degenerative condition. Gary’s family said that he loved being at NSH and that he liked both the staff and the environment. They were sad that he could not stay there. They said that some of the places that they were advised to look at with Gary were inappropriate and left them feeling quite shocked. 

13.3 It is important to note that Gary had a life limiting/terminal condition for which there was no treatment that would benefit him, although he could benefit from therapeutic interventions. The clinicians involved in his care were not invited to give a view about his service needs or his likely prognosis or trajectory of his condition. The funding panel membership and process of allocating places at Willowfields does not include a clinician. 
Although Gary did not have the usual profile of a tenant of Willowfields, in that he was young (the service is registered for those over 55 years old) and he had quite profound disabilities, his family said that he did like his apartment and the environment. He did not really like group activities and preferred his own company.

13.3 The assessments and risk assessments that were in place at Willowfields for Gary were not informed by any of his clinicians. However, his assessment at NSH were informed by health professionals. His social care assessment and support plan were quite full but did not include information from his health team about the likely progression of his condition and how this would impact on his needs. The assessment and support plan are clearly informed by Gary’s views and wishes.
13.4  The clinicians and health staff were unaware of the nature of the service that Gary received and from interview and file notes it is apparent that they had made the assumption that he was in receipt of residential or nursing home care. They were not aware that he was in an extra care scheme. 
There does appear to have been an underlying assumption that his care setting would have full information about his needs.

13.5 Even where care staff had attended appointments with Gary, they did not make any notes on his needs or the outcomes. The process of sharing information is very unclear. Letters only went to Gary, not to the service, which is appropriate as he had a capacity. However, there had been an expectation from NSH that Willowfields would see his letters from the hospital and this is recorded on his NSH file.  The care service did see his letters, but only when Gary showed them to reception staff so that they could book transport.

14. Findings

14.1 Although Gary saw many professionals, including experts in the management of needs arising from Multiple Sclerosis, their expertise and knowledge was not sought in the planning of his care services. As a result, some of his future needs were not fully explored, for example, 
the likely trajectory of his condition and the anticipation of changes in his needs as his impairments increased. 

14.2 Changes and choices in the provision and delivery of care services are not fully shared or understood by professionals in Health, and in particular, hospital based services. It would be helpful if clear information could be provided to them. This could be as basic as a brief outline of the service received and how and where it is delivered. 
15. Transitions
15.1 Gary changed GP three times in the last two years of his life as a consequence of moving to a new place of residence. It is evident from records that he was pro-active in accessing GP services. Given that his speech was significantly impaired, it would have been quite difficult to build a relationship with a new GP over a short period of time. 
15.2  When Gary was admitted to the Rehabilitation Service for assessment, the Service (NSH) wrote to his GP and health professionals to say that the were undertaking an assessment.

15.3 His GP3 did receive a full report from NSH (New Swinford Hall).  However, during the transition from NSH to Willowfields, the care documents and assessments were completed by care staff. No health staff were involved. NSH staff did write to his GP2 with outcomes of his assessments prior to his move. However, he changed GP at this time. 

15.4 The process was less clear when Gary was discharged from NSH. Gary’s care needs had been dealt with at the funding panel. Although the panel looked at exceptional needs these are not informed by reports or assessments from clinicians. The panel comprises the Local Authority and the Provider. 

15.5 There is no evidence of a multi-agency meeting being convened to give an holistic consideration of Gary’s transition to the extra care service, 
the differences in that service to the one he had been receiving, and any strategies or inputs that may be needed to ensure that all his needs were being met. Importantly, although the outcome of his dysphagia assessments were not fully known, no discussion appears to have taken place around the impact of change from his meals being prepared on site by a chef to microwave meals being provided by his family. Gary was informed about two possible sources of prepared meals but chose not to go down this route (KFC, a local provider of hot meals, and Wiltshire farm who provide frozen meals). 

15.6 His assessment for service at Willowfields was conducted by staff from Willowfields, a member of care staff from NSH and Gary. It is noted that the NSH member of staff was feeding Gary that day so that the assessment would not be delayed. Willowfields staff produced a risk and needs assessment and care and support plan for Gary on 4th April 2013. 
Background medical history and a working tasks documents were produced but there was no mention of eating /choking risks.

16. Findings
16.1 Transitions, especially those that involve key changes such as home address, GP, personal care providers, are times when communications and relationships need to be robustly supported. However, these are also times when many of the key professionals engaged with an individual may change. In Gary’s case this was further compounded by his social worker being off sick and a new social worker being allocated to him. It is clear from records that his newly allocated social worker was pro-active in supporting him and undertaking his assessment and reviews. Adult Social Care have identified that there should be a process in place to prioritise those with complex needs for social work allocation.

16.2 The lack of a care coordinator/professional liaising with all those involved in providing services to Gary, especially health services, meant that some aspects of his needs were missed and communication was not consistent.
16.3 A major transition or change should indicate the need for a MDT- multi-disciplinary- meeting to ensure the smooth and timely transfer of information and should involve the service user/patient. 
Any professional, individual who accesses services and or their family should be able to request an MDT.
16.4 If the model of admission to NSH, which was comprehensive and pro-active, had been mirrored in discharge this would be a more robust transition process. It is noted that the New Model of Care in Dudley, 
the Multispecialty Community Provider should address the weaknesses in transitions and inter-agency communications. There are approximately 500 people in Dudley with Multiple Sclerosis and the CCG representatives at the Learning Event are ensuring that they are explicitly included in the Vanguard Project. The Vanguard system information can be shared between professionals and should aid 
inter-agency communication. However, there may still be issues around acute admissions, which needs to be explored.
17.  Risk Assessments
17.1 Few risk assessments were in place for Gary at Willowfields and those that were completed were functional. The risk assessments did not fully reflect his risks or needs in relation to MS e.g. impact of fatigue on his functioning, losses and grief, forgetfulness related to MS (For example. It is clearly recorded on GP records that there were times when he could not remember key information such as current medication), degenerative nature of his condition. Gary did not have any risk assessment in relation to eating and drinking. However, it is important to note that Gary agreed with his risk assessments and his care plan.
18. Findings

18.1 Where a person has specialist needs, their risk assessment should be overseen by a specialist professional. This would ensure that all aspects of risk were understood and covered. However, this should not over-ride an individual’s wishes. For example, if Gary had been eating in the presence of another person it is likely that he would have received assistance when he began to choke. However, Gary did not like eating in public and found the experience of eating unpleasant and difficult. 
If staff had had a greater understanding of dysphagia and Multiple Sclerosis there may have been opportunities to explore other ways of supporting him, such as extra checks or visits when he was showing signs of fatigue. However, he may still have declined any input and found it an intrusion.
18.2 Incorporating risk assessments within multi- agency support plans would make the risk assessment process more integrated and holistic.
19. Healthcare
19.1 Gary had many consultants and health professionals engaged in his care. No one clinician was responsible for taking a holistic view of his needs. From records it is possible to take the view that Gary was treated by each specialism in relation to that particular function e.g. urology, gastroenterology. Sometimes described as ‘the collusion of anonymity’. Given the global nature of the disease progression and the impact of health event on Gary’s overall presentation and needs, it does raise the question of who was coordinating his care and interventions.

19.2 This becomes more critical when Gary moved and is no longer under the care of a GP (GP1) with whom he has had a relationship for many years. However, records show that he continued to receive pro-active referrals from his GPs as his needs increased, including a referral 24th April 2013 for a new wheelchair with straps that would offer more support, and suprapubic catheter that was inserted 15th April 2013. It should be noted that he attended the 
pre-assessment clinic for the supra-pubic catheter alone 8th April 2013. Hospital staff telephoned Willowfields as Gary was unable to give next of kin details and contact numbers but staff said that they were unable to provide the information as he had only been with them for 4 days. This again indicates the need for more robust transitions processes, as indicated earlier.
19.3  Gary was admitted as an emergency to hospital on five occasions between 19th August and 13th October 2013. One of these admissions was due to problems mobilizing; the other four related to urine infections/haematuria linked to the suprapubic catheter. He had full clinical investigations and follow up outpatients investigations. A flexible cystoscopy in November 2013 showed no problems.

20.  Paperwork and Forms
20.1 The Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council (MBC) Adult Care Assessment and Support plan includes a section on eating and drinking but in terms of needs in relation to food and drink preparation and assistance with eating and drinking. There are no prompts around swallow, risks of choking, need for supervision whilst eating and drinking, even where a person is able to feed themselves. A number of specific conditions e.g. Motor Neurone disease, are identified on the form but not dysphagia. Similarly, there is little integration of communication in the assessment format, which is relevant as communication impacts on the ability to complete tasks and ask for assistance or help. 

20.2 The care plans and assessments written by the providers mirror the commissioning assessments and therefore there are no clear prompts around swallow/dysphagia.

There is a concern that eating and drinking issues are seen as requiring therapy rather than posing a medical risk. As a result, the risks associated with dysphagia are not sufficiently understood by professionals.

20.3 Reviews: Gary had an internal service review on 11th November 2013 which was attended by his sister-in-law. Issues related to eating drinking were discussed but not in relation to swallowing issues. It is recorded that Gary said that he did not like eating and sometimes refused to eat. There were concerns that he was losing weight and the need to monitor his intake and encourage him to eat and drink was recorded. 

20.4 The review also noted that Gary was at risk of low mood/depression if he became isolated, but that he was not depressed at this time. This is worrying as Gary was on medication for depression, which had been prescribed when he moved into Willowfields. It was listed in the review that he was taking Citalopram and that this was under review. Care staff had supported him to attend the GP surgery on 23rd August when he visited to the GP to say he was still feeling depressed. 

20.5 The review recommended that his care needs had reduced to 23 hours 30 minutes per week. He rarely socialised and did not want to spend time in community or social activities. It is difficult to understand the rationale for reducing care hours for someone who has a degenerative, life threatening condition and whose health needs and physical impairments have increased. The allocation of care hours appears to be task-focused rather than an holistic approach to needs and outcomes. Given the difficulties in understanding Gary’s speech that were reported and recorded by various professionals and clinicians, support to access and communicate with his health professionals should have included in his assessments.
20.6 Hospital files do not clearly indicate when a person has moved. Therefore, staff assumed that the care staff with whom they had had discussions in the past were the same team supporting him later in the year. 

The health records are not integrated. Some recording is through the electronic systems and some on the hospital’s paper files. The specialist nurse, for instance, does not have access to the electronic records. This contributes to weaknesses in communication between services and with agencies.

20.7 The various professionals supporting Gary did not have routine access to all the notes from the other professionals. This led to some lack of clarity about outcomes.

20.8 The various agencies did not know the type of care service that Gary was receiving and his living arrangements. It would have been helpful if he had a brief letter or leaflet outlining these so that he could share it with the various health professionals. This may have led to better planning e.g. advising Gary that he should be accompanied to appointments by care staff.
20.9 The Staff team at Willowfields had not received any training in understanding or awareness of Multiple Sclerosis. This meant that some of Gary’s needs were not identified or explored. Neither were they trained in identifying and understanding dysphagia. 

21. Findings

21.1 Care supporting Gary did not receive sufficient training or guidance around his specific needs resulting from Multiple Sclerosis, nor did they have a full understanding of dysphagia. When a person has specific needs these should be identified in training and supervision. Although there is no specific requirement to provide training on dysphagia, given the risks associated it, it would be helpful for all those involved in assessing and providing services to children and adults with disabilities and complex needs to have an awareness of dysphagia. Those working with adults with learning disabilities have access to dysphagia training and it would be helpful if this were to be made more widely available across the care sector.
21.2 It would be helpful if social care paperwork could be developed to identify dysphagia as a need.

22.2 Staff did not have access to training regarding Multiple Sclerosis. The MS nurse is offering MS Awareness training to care staff. 

23.  Summary of Recommendations
1. Dudley CCG, The Dudley Group NHS Foundation Trust and Dudley MBC work together to build greater awareness of dysphagia within their staff, user groups and with carers and volunteers.

2. Dudley CCG, The Dudley Group NHS Foundation Trust and Dudley MBC work together to look at identifying transitions within care pathways and develop processes to strengthen and improve 
inter-agency communication, such as convening MDT meetings, 
at times of transition between services especially changes in address, Care arrangements, GP’s and health needs, or where there has been a significant gap in the allocation of a key professional e.g. Social worker, SALT, OT, specialist nurse.
3. Dudley CCG, The Dudley Group NHS Foundation Trust and Dudley MBC work together to ensure that the Vanguard information system and New Model of Care for people with complex needs covers acute hospital admissions.
4. That consideration is given to including a specific question about dysphagia/swallow and dysathria/communication difficulties in the needs categories social care assessments. Consideration should also be given to incorporating risk assessments within the MASP 
(Multi-agency support plan).
5. Further to work being undertaken to prioritise those with complex needs for social care allocation, that the panel reports for those with complex needs are also reviewed by a health professional and specialist reports from the service users’ clinicians and health team are sought where necessary.

6. Staff supporting people with dysphagia or any other specialist need e.g. Life-limiting neurological conditions, receive training in awareness and understanding of needs and presentation so that they are better able to support the service user and recognize changes in that person’s needs.
7. People who access social care services, including personal budgets and direct payments, are offered support to produce a brief information sheet about their care services and living arrangements that they can share with their health teams, similar to the hospital passports that are found within services for people with Learning Disabilities. 
8. Whilst recognising that training in dysphagia is not a mandatory requirement, CQC inspectors check on staff training and competency where they are providing care support to people who have dysphagia, to be satisfied that the service being provided is safe, in line with Health and Social Care Act 2008 Regulation 18.
24.  Index of Acronyms

	Acronym
	Full title or phrase

	SAR
	Safeguarding Adults Review

	SAB 
	Safeguarding Adults Board

	IMR
	Individual Agency Management Report

	MCA
	Mental Capacity Act

	NSH
	New Swinford Hall

	MS
	Multiple Sclerosis

	GP
	General Practitioner

	CPR
	Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation

	IT
	Information Technology

	OT
	Occupational Therapist

	SALT
	Speech and Language Therapist

	ILT
	Independent Living Team

	PEG
	Percutaneous Endoscopic Gastrostomy

	CQC
	Care Quality Commission

	CCG
	Clinical Commissioning Group

	MBC
	Metropolitan Borough Council

	MASP
	Multi-agency support plan

	MDT
	Multi-disciplinary meeting
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� Difficulty in swallowing


� Slurred or difficulty in speaking.


� Web based recording system used by the care provider.


� An anti-depressant from the Selective Serotonin Re-uptake Inhibitor (SSRI) Group.


� A real-time radiological investigation of the swallowing process using radio-opaque contrast media


� the insertion of a tube through the abdominal wall for feeding purposes, avoiding the normal swallowing processes.


� An anti-depressant from the tricyclic group which has been available for many years.
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Findings and Recommendations of IMR’s.

1. CCG- GP 


		

		Findings



		a

		Mr Astonwas only registered with this GP practice from March 2013 until his death. During this time he saw a clinicians from the practice on four separate occasions none of these consultations appears to have including any discussion on any issues about any difficulties with his swallow either raised by Mr aston or explored by the clinicians


There is no evidence that Mr Aston showed any clinical signs of aspiration on any of these occasions and the GP practice had referred on to specialist services with issues concerning Mr Aston posture in his wheelchair during their initial 


There was documentary evidence by letters from consultants that GA had regular involvement with the acute services


Unable to establish who had prescribed antidepressants. A visit in August 2013 when the clinician reviewed and recommendation was for Mr Aston to continue with these and there is no evidence that anyone had followed up his low mood or further services offered to support him


The GP practice did not follow up the letter from the Gastroenterologist that Mr aston had not attended his appointment and this therefore could be classed as a missed opportunity to identify Mr Aston wishes or to assess his capacity around the insertion of a PEG


A further letter to the GP practice noted that he had failed to attend this appointment the GP had prescribed antibiotics which had been requested by the hospital but no evidence found that his failure to attend gastroenterology was ever pursued by the practice



		

		Recommendations



		b

		To improve system within the practice of ensuring that referral to specialist or other professionals have been completed.




		GP practices to have escalation policy for patients who do not attend hospital appointments



		c

		GP practice to ensure that if a patient does not attend a hospital appointment that contact is made with the patient to see if further appointment is necessary




		



		d

		Once patient has been to appointment the clinician who has requested the consultation has reviewed the letter and taken the appropriate action or patient has not attended specialist appointment

		





2. Dudley MBC- Adult Social Care

		

		Conclusion



		

		Case Records contained in the client file at New Swinford Hall for Mr Aston demonstrates a comprehensive identification of care requirements. The records also document concerns raised due to decline in Mr Aston’s condition and the relevant control measures and risks assessments were carried out.


Interviews held with Registered Managers confirmed that during the two visits Willowfield staff attended New Swinford Hall, they had full access to Mr Aston’s client file and the information held within.


Case Records indicate that the Registered Manager at New Swinford requested a reassessment by Willowfields with Mr Aston as they were concerned given decline in his condition, that he may no longer meet the criteria for support and accommodation.  Willowfields carried out a second assessment at New Swinford Hall and took the decision that Mr Aston still met the criteria for support and accommodation.


The transfer documentation from New Swinford to Willowfields records the support needs for Mr Aston accurately.


The first review at Willowfields on the 1.5.13. recorded the need to follow up medical investigation results of Mr Aston swallowing.  






		

		Findings



		

		New Swinford’s transfer process and documentation was appropriate


Willlowfields staff had a minimum of two opportunities to obtain the relevant and current information of the support needs for Mr Aston.  


The first review for Mr Aston at Willowfields documents current circumstances; support arrangements currently in place and reference was made to expected results for Mr Aston from a medical examination of his swallowing. The details contained in the review identifies that Willowfields staff had an awareness of the difficulties in swallowing Mr Aston had been experiencing



		

		Actions/Recommendations



		

		To ensure that all individuals have a SALT Assessment/Communication Passport in place with clear guidance for staff on how individuals communicate forms and support required.


The Extra Care Panel records the current care requirements of a person on the approval of applications


Dudley MBC ensures that transfer documents from the intermediate care establishments are countersigned by the future care provider.


The DMBC Head of Safeguarding investigates whether the proposed solution to put a table across Mr Aston when sitting in his wheelchair was to prevent falls, or whether it could be seen as acting as a restraint.





3. Midland Heart


		

		Summary and Conclusion



		

		1. When referred to Willowfields, Mr Aston was a 47 year old man subject to multiple sclerosis which affected his speech and physical abilities. A potential issue with swallowing had previously been identified and this was known to staff at New Swinford Hall, the rehabilitation centre he lived at prior to Willowfields. There is evidence that specialist help had been obtained, but Mr Aston had been discharged in September 2012. The swallowing issue was not highlighted when Midland Heart staff attended New Swinford Hall to undertake an assessment of Mr Aston’s needs, prior to his arrival at Willowfields. The New Swinford Hall Transfer of Care Document, states that Mr Aston ‘needs monitoring at meal times due to swallow problems’, but it is not clear whether, and if so on what date that document was given to Willowfields staff. 

2. b)  DMBC Directorate of Adults, Community and Housing Services was also aware of ‘an issue with swallowing which is currently being investigated. He requires a soft diet and can cough when he has had a drink’. Again, it is not now clear whether and if so when this document was made available to Willowfields staff. Willowfields may also have received a copy of a discharge 
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report from Speech and Language Therapy (SALT) stating ‘it is not felt by Gary that further speech and language therapy will help; however should his speech or swallowing deteriorate in future he can be re-referred via his GP’. 

c) There is no evidence within documentation and staff accounts available that the swallowing issue as contained in these two documents, had been made available to them. They were not acknowledged or responded to. The status of the issue varies between reports and the timeline of assessments is not clear. There is clear evidence of communication, assessment and care being kept up to date and provided according to the wishes of Mr Aston. This also received the support of Mr Aston’s family and GP. Assessments, staff understanding and practice are consistent on Mr Aston’s wishes around his eating. 

d) In conclusion it appears that potentially important information dating from before Mr Aston's accommodation at Willowfields may not have been made available to Midland Heart staff. It is not clear how well potential issues were flagged by others involved in Mr Aston’s care, nor the time and occasion of this. An opportunity to directly discuss the swallowing issue with Mr Aston, family and other professionals may have been missed as a result. The nature and level of any issue was not known by Willowfields staff. Before Mr Aston moved to Willowfields, when he moved, and during his stay, his care needs were assessed and the care provided met Mr Aston’s wishes. He had full mental capacity, and had many opportunities to express any concern that he might have. Staff themselves did not identify a potential issue during his stay. There is no evidence that staff knowledge of any issue, would have changed Mr Aston’s wishes, nor that practice would have been different. 





		

		Recommendation for Action



		

		Following the incident Midland Heart amended the Midland Heart Customer Individual Risk and Needs Assessment and Care and Support Plans with Review Sheets, document. This document now contains a section on nutrition and hydration as per CQC requirements. The implementation at Willowfields has been validated. 

Other operational actions around the specific details surrounding the choking incident of GA have been also been undertaken to prevent a reoccurrence. 

The training of new staff coming into Midland Heart registered services now follows the Care Certificate requirements and staff, are using the Skills for Care Workbook. This is to seek to ensure a consistent standard in staff knowledge and care. 

Learning from the Safeguarding Review will be disseminated appropriately across services. 







4. Care Quality Commission


		

		Summary, Conclusions and Lessons Learned



		

		· Prior to the inspection on 13 March 2014 our previous inspections provided evidence that the provider had been fully compliant with those regulations inspected. Notifications received were minimal prior to this inspection and continued to be so after the inspection. There was no evidence of any trends of concern. Partner agencies had not reported any significant concerns.

· After interrogating our records and speaking with the CQC Manager Thacker and Inspector it can be concluded that although we did not follow up the notification of death, the Commission acted proactively on information being received once we had been made aware of the safeguarding alert.  

· Had we followed up the notification of unexpected death we would have been made aware of the safeguarding referral prior to the information sharing meeting, although this would not have altered our regulatory response in this situation.

· There was a delay in setting up a safeguarding enquiry on our CRM system once we had received the information. Information about the safeguarding strategy meeting and contact with partner agencies had not been saved into this enquiry. This however did not affect the outcome. 


· The Commission undertook one inspection to the service during this timeframe. We set a compliance action in line with our methodology in an attempt to drive improvement. We provided the local authority with updated information in regard to our findings during the first strategy meeting. 

· From the period of January 2014 to March 2014 the Commission was working towards completing its inspection programme to ensure all locations had been inspected under the HSCA 2008. Inspections after April 2015 were based on risk and high level concerns. 

· Non-compliance had been found during the inspection of 13 March 2014 and according to our methodology this should have been followed up within a shorter timescale. There were organisational reasoning for this gap, a change in organisational structure and methodology. It is acknowledged that this is not good practice and a follow up inspection should have taken place.

· Effective working relationships were not fully maintained. There was a lack of communication and sharing of information in regard to the safeguarding investigation. Minutes of the strategy meeting we attended were not made available. Further invites to strategy meetings were not forthcoming. Yet the Commission did not follow this up or request any updates. Therefore the safeguarding enquiry on our CRM system remains on hold and we are not aware of progress made in relation to the investigation. It would have been good practice for us to follow this up.

· Although there were gaps in our audit trails in CRM, on this occasion this did not affect the effectiveness of our response. 

· Although enquiries and inspection plans were not related, the employees involved in this were aware of discussions. Therefore although there could be improvements, this did not affect our response or the outcome. However conversations that were not logged at the time of the event, leaves the Commission reliant upon knowledge held by the employees and should they no longer be in employment this knowledge would be compromised. 

· Lessons learned had taken place following the initial alert. The inspector had acted upon this and made the required developments. 





		

		10 Changes the Commission have already made since the time of this alert – but not in direct response of this



		

		· Additional processes have been put into place to monitor performance and ensure that notifications and safeguarding alerts are dealt with in a timely way and that action taken has been recorded. The Commission’s sector support reports (this is a report that is generated from our CRM system. It provides performance related data of activities such as the length of time it has taken inspectors to deal with a safeguarding enquiry and if this has been completed correctly) demonstrate that improvements have been made. 

· Locations where there is ongoing noncompliance continues to be prioritised for an inspection. 

· Recruitment has taken place and therefore there has been an improvement in resources available. 





		

		Recommendations going forward



		

		The Commission to continue use sector support reports to ensure notifications and safeguarding’s are dealt with in a timely way and actions are recorded. Inspection managers to discuss with inspectors and Head of Inspection during one to one discussions. Appropriate action to be taken in regard to poor practice and relevant records of discussions kept.  

Inspection managers to randomly audit the quality of information being documented in CRM during monthly one to one’s with inspectors and for this to be documented. 

Inspection scheduling to continue to take into account locations where there is ongoing noncompliance so that these are dealt with as a matter of priority. 

The induction and mentorship of new inspectors to include more in depth training and guidance on managing notifications and safeguarding enquiries. Inspection Managers and mentors of new inspectors to ensure that employees have adopted robust CRM practices following induction. 

The Commissions to contact the provider and request an update of their internal investigation. 

The Commission to contact the local authority and obtain an update on the investigation. On conclusion of this investigation a stakeholder and lessons learned meeting to be arranged to improve partnership working.

The service to remain on the Commissions risk register and ongoing monitoring of the service to take place until conclusion of the safeguarding investigation. 







5. Dudley Group NHS Foundation Trust


		

		Summary of key issues and earning identified



		

		Three letters went to the old GP – two from Dr Douglas’s Out Patient’s clinic and one from the Community SALT. When a patient books in at clinic all demographic information including GP is checked and change of GP should have been updated on the systems. In one of the clinic letters to the GP the Consultant acknowledged that Mr Aston had changed GP, however the letter was sent to the old GP.


It was not always documented whether Mr Aston was seen alone or that someone had accompanied him. When Mr Aston was accompanied it was not always evident who was giving the history, Mr Aston or his carer.


A  MUST score was not completed on two separate hospital admissions. On the second of these admissions food charts were utilised but not fully completed. ‘Refused’ diet was recorded on several occasions but no evidence of action taken. No evidence of a referral to the dietician.






		

		Conclusions and recommendations



		

		A new ‘Malnutrition Identification and Management in Adults Guideline’ was developed and ratified by the Clinical Quality, Safety and Patient Experience Committee in November 2014 which addresses the issues raised regarding nutrition identified in the chronology. The monthly hospital Nursing Care Indicators audit results (regarding the MUST scores) are now reported at the Nutrition Quality and Practice Development team meetings.


All clinic reception staff to be reminded of the importance of updating the electronic records when a patient changes GP.


The consultant’s secretary who typed the letter which identified the change in GP to be made aware of the learning identified in order to reflect on actions.





		

		Action Plan



		

		See Appendix 2 b
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[bookmark: _GoBack]DUDLEY SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD

SAFEGUARDING ADULTS REVIEW 

IN RESPECT OF THE LATE [PERSON A] and [PERSON B] 

MARCH 2015

REQUEST / SPECIFICATION FOR INDEPENDENT REVIEWER 

BACKGROUND

The Dudley Safeguarding Adults Board (DSAB) has decided that the circumstances attached to the deaths of two Dudley citizens who were receiving support and care meet the threshold for a Safeguarding Adults Review (SAR.)

DSAB has established a SAR sub-group to oversee support to the SAR process in consultation with the Independent Chair, the DSAB and the statutory Director of Adult Social Services (DASS.)  

Two documents / presentations are attached to this Request / Specification which include relevant material on SARs from the West Midlands region which we want to inform the approach taken:

· the West Midlands Region – Safeguarding Adults Review Framework (agreed December 2013) 

· learning from  the   West Midlands Regional Network SAR/SCR Event 2014

REQUIREMENT 

It is envisaged that the Independent Reviewer will work with the DSAB SAR Sub-group to:

· Set the Terms of Reference and timescales for the Review



· Confirming the membership of a Review Panel and making contact with the Chief Officers of the relevant organisations to acquire their nominations.



· Making appropriate arrangements to seek family members’ views and to keep them informed about the SAR



· Convening and chairing any required SAR Panel meetings.



· Writing the Overview Report, including recommended actions arising from the review, and presenting it to the DSAB Chair, the Statutory Director of Adult Social Services and the DSAB. 

· Writing an Executive Summary of the Overview Report.



· Seeking advice as necessary about any legal issues that arise in the course of the review e.g. Data Protection, Freedom of Information, Mental Capacity etc.



· Advising on communication of the outcome of the Review



SPECIFICS

· It is essential that the Investigator have expertise relating to the care and support of people living in community settings with dysphagia and learning disability and the content of the Review is likely to include the following: 



· Identify whether there are lessons to be learned from the death of the late [PERSON A] and [PERSON B] in which local professionals and agencies work together to safeguard adults at risk.


· Identify what those lessons are, how they will be acted upon and what is expected to change as a result within a given timescale; and as a result to improve practice, with a view to promoting the positive practice highlighted amongst other relevant factors.


· Inform and improve local inter-agency working including with commissioned services.


· Review the effectiveness of procedures (both multi agency and those of individual organisations) of those supporting the late [PERSON A] and [PERSON B] and make recommendations for improvement.


· To commission whatever information is required of agencies involved in the care of the late [PERSON A] and [PERSON B]. To prepare an overview report which brings together and analyses the findings of the various reports from agencies in order to identify the learning points and make recommendations for future action.



PROCUREMENT



In line with the requirements of Dudley Council, this Request/Specification is being sent to three providers for a Quotations.



Providers are asked to:



· Provide a short narrative explaining how their experience matches the content of this Request / Specification



· Indicate the:

· timescale over which they envisage the Review might take given their other commitments

· number of days they envisage the Review to take

· daily rate they would wish to charge 

· total indicative charge
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Action Plan Dudley NHS Foundation Trust





		Recommendation (SMART)

		Action Required By Agency

		Implementation Lead 



		Target Date

For Completion

		Summary Of Action Taken & Date 

		Finalisation Date Signed  Off by DASB



		Identify a Trust Nutritional Steering Group to take a lead on nutritional management 

		Development of a Nutritional Steering Group.





Nutrition Nurse Care Indicators to be presented and discussed at the Nutritional Steering Group 

		 Head of Nursing



Consultant Head of Service







Head of Nursing

		April 2015











May 2015

 

		Completed











Completed 

		 



		Documentation should clearly identify who is accompanying the patient and giving the patient’s story/history. 



		Documentation Group to include a section for practitioners to complete.

		Matron Lead for the Documentation Group.

		September 2015

		

		



		All clinic reception staff to be reminded of the importance of updating the electronic records when a patient changes GP

		All clinic reception staff to be reminded of the importance of updating the electronic records when a patient changes GP



		Out-patient Lead Nurse 

		September 2015 

		 

		 



		The consultant’s secretary who typed the letter which identified the change in GP to be made aware of the learning identified in order to reflect on actions.



		Meeting to be arranged with line manager.

		Named Nurse for Safeguarding Adults to liaise with Line Manager

		September 2015

		

		












